Recent Publications of the Cambridge Antiquarian Society

Proceedings XCIV, 2005: Price £12.50 for members, £14.50 for non-members
Andy Chapman, Simon Carlyle, David Leigh: Neolithic and Beaker pits and a Bronze Age landscape at Fenstanton, Cambridgeshire
Catriona Gibson: A Romano-British rural site at Eaton Socon, Cambridgeshire
William Potts: Quy Water, Little Wilbraham River and the Fleam Dyke
Craig Cessford with Alison Dickens: The Manor of Hintona: the origins and development of Church End, Cherry Hinton
Craig Cessford with Alison Dickens: Castle Hill, Cambridge: excavation of Saxon, medieval and post-medieval deposits, Saxon excavation site and a medieval coinhoard
Kate Nicholson: Medieval deposits and a cockpit at St Ives, Cambridgeshire
Mary Alexander, Elizabeth Shepherd Popescu: Excavation of medieval burials associated with St Neots Priory
Christopher Taylor: Christhill Grange, Fowlmere: a settlement in eight landscapes
Anthea Jones: Letters from Mary Yorke, the wife of the Bishop of Ely 1781–1808
Philomena Guillebaud: The Enclosure of Cambridge St Giles: Cambridge University and the Parliamentary Act of 1802
Peter Bryan, Nick Wise: Cambridge New Town -- A Victorian Microcosm
Field-Work in Cambridgeshire 2004: Alison Taylor, Tony Kirby: Reviews
Summaries of 12 March 2005 Spring Conference papers: Garden History and Archaeology in East Anglia
THE CONDUIT: local history and archaeology organisations and events

Proceedings XCV, 2006: Price £12.50 for members, £14.50 for non-members
Rebecca Casa Hatton and William Wall: A late Roman cemetery at Durobrivae, Chesterton
Phil Andrews: Romano-British and medieval saltmaking and settlement in Parson Drove, Cambridgeshire
David Baxter: Roman tumuli or medieval industry? Moulton Hills, Bourn, reconsidered
Kate Nicholson: A late Roman Cemetery at Watereet Mill Common Huntingdon
Tim Malim: A Romano-British temple complex and Anglo-Saxon burials at Gallows Hill, Swaffham Prior
James Wright: An Anglo-Saxon settlement at Church Onton Road, Orton Waterville, Peterborough
Christopher Taylor: Landscape History, Observation and Explanation: the missing houses in Cambridgeshire villages
Tobit Curteis: Conservation of early 17th Century allegorical wall paintings in St John's College, Cambridge
Robert Walker: Huntingdonshire Bell Frames
Philomena Guillebaud: Changes in the landscape of west Cambridge after Enclosure 1805–1870
Archaeological Notes: Romano-British buildings at Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham TL 5453 6095; Medieval land reclamation and subsequent occupation on High Street, Ramsey TL 2870 8506; Animal carcasses in a Roman ditch, West End, Haddenham, TL 4613 7552
Fieldwork in Cambridgeshire 2005: Obituaries; Anne Holton-Krayenbuh, Tony Kirby, Alison Taylor: Reviews
Chris Jakas: Recent Accessions to the Cambridgeshire Collection

Proceedings XCVI, 2007: Price £12.50 for members, £14.50 for non-members
Phil Weston, Andrew A. S. Newton and Kate Nicholson: A Late Bronze Age enclosure at Lynton Way, Sawston, Cambridgeshire
Christopher Taylor and Ashley Arbon: The Chronicle Hills, Whittlesford, Cambridgeshire
Christopher Evans, Mark Knight and Leo Webley: Iron Age settlement and Romanisation on the Isle of Ely: the Hurst Lane Reservoir site
Leo Webley: Prehistoric, Roman and Saxon activity on the Fen hinterland at Parnwell, Peterborough
Thomas Woolhouse: Anglo-Saxon medieval boundaries and burials at the former Oblic Engineering site, Church Street, Lillington
Andrew A. S. Newton: Mid-Saxon burials at Barnwell Road, Cambridge
Paul Spoerry and Mark Hinnman: Early Saxon and medieval remains adjacent to the round moat, Fowlmere
Mary Hesse: The East Fields of Cambridge
Craig Cessford with Alison Dickens: Ely Cathedral and environs: recent investigations
Michael Chisholm: Re-assessing the navigation impact of draining the Fens in the seventeenth century
Philomena Guillebaud: West Cambridge 1870–1914: building the bicycle suburb
Elizabeth Shepherd Popescu and Sarah Poppy: Fieldwork in Cambridgeshire 2006
Obituary: David Wilson; Malcolm Underwood, Paul Spoerry, Debbie Banham: Reviews
Chris Jakas: Recent Accessions to the Cambridgeshire Collection
Proceedings of the Cambridge Antiquarian Society

(incorporating the Cambs and Hunts Archaeological Society)

Volume XCVII
for 2008

Editor Dr. Evelyn Lord
Associate Editor (Archaeology) Professor Stephen Upex

Published by the Cambridge Antiquarian Society 2008
ISSN 0309-3606
## Contents

Further Investigations at Arbury Camp, Cambridge: The Eastern Entrance – A Monumental Architecture
Christopher Evans and Mark Knight  
7

Iron Age settlement by the Dam Brook at Scotland Farm, Dry Drayton
David Ingham  
31

Excavation of a Middle Iron Age enclosure at Bushmead Road, Eaton Socon, Cambridgeshire
Daniel Stansbie  
41

Late Iron Age/Early Roman Pottery Kilns at Blackhorse Lane, Swavesey, 1998–99
Steven Willis, Alice Lyons, Elizabeth Shepherd Popescu and Judith Roberts  
53

Iron Age Ditches and an Anglo-Saxon Building near the Mile Ditches, Bassingbourn, TL 3294 4335
Tom Phillips  
77

A Zoomorphic Roman Handle from New Street, Godmanchester, TL 5246 2704
Nina Crummy and Tom Phillips  
83

Excavations on a Roman Saltmaking Site at Cedar Close, March, Cambridgeshire
Tom Lane, Elaine L Morris and Mark Peachey  
89

A Romano-Saxon Farmstead and possible 12th-century Dovecote or Windmill:
Community excavations at Spring Close, Boxworth, TL 350 645
Aileen Connor  
111

New work on old sites: Somersham and Pampisford revisited
Christopher Taylor  
121

Excavation of the Civil War bastion ditch of Cambridge Castle
Craig Cessford  
137

The Old Plough: a neglected property of Ely Porta Manor
Michael Chisholm  
149

Living on the Edge: Commons, Castles and Regional Settlement Patterns in Medieval East Anglia
Robert Liddiard  
169

West Cambridge: the two World Wars and the inter-war lull
Philomena Guillebaud  
179

Fieldwork in Cambridgeshire 2007
Elizabeth Shepherd Popescu and Sarah Poppy  
195

Reviews
Tim Malim and Sue Oosthuizen  
215

Notes on Contributors  
219

Index  
221

Abbreviations  
227

Recent Accessions to the Cambridgeshire Collection
Chris Jakes  
229
Iron Age Ditches and an Anglo-Saxon Building near the Mile Ditches, Bassingbourn, TL 3294 4335

Tom Phillips

With Paul Blinkhorn and Chris Faine

Illustrations by Crane Begg and Gillian Greer

Excavation by CAM ARC in 2007 of approximately half a hectare of land at Bassingbourn Village College, south Cambridgeshire provides the first evidence for Iron Age settlement in the parish and makes a notable contribution to current understanding of this period in the area. The work revealed a series of parallel Iron Age ditches, perhaps representing a wide track or droveway, set within a landscape of known prehistoric and Roman routes, boundaries and monuments. Subsequent Anglo-Saxon activity included a sunken-featured building relating to the re-establishment of settlement in the post-Roman period, the core of which may lie further west.

Bassingbourn

Bassingbourn lies in a landscape of gently rolling hills and chalk grassland 3km to the north-west of Royston, Hertfordshire (Fig. 1). The surrounding area has a distinctive pattern of rectilinear fields and lanes, the origins of which have recently been explored (Hesse 2000). Development of the local landscape was influenced by the presence of ancient roads, interspersed with monuments including the enigmatic Mile Ditches (Crawford 1936).

The name Bassingbourn, meaning the stream of Bassa's people, indicates a pre-Conquest origin: although no prehistoric or Roman settlements have yet been found here, thirteen ring ditches noted elsewhere within the parish have been interpreted as representing ploughed-out Bronze Age barrows (Reaney 1943, 52; Taylor 1997, 19). Taylor (1997, 19) suggested that Bassingbourn High Street might be one of a series of parallel east to west prehistoric trackways within the Icknield Way zone. These include Ashwell Street to the south of the recent excavation and the Icknield Way itself, further south again. The Roman road of Ermine Street, approximately 1.5km to the east of the village, runs north to south and crosses the Icknield Way at Royston.

South of the village is an abundance of prehistoric activity. On Therfield Heath, an area of higher land approximately 3km distant, are several Bronze Age round barrows and a long barrow, the only known example in Hertfordshire. Of particular interest is a set of three parallel ditches known as the Mile Ditches, which commence near an upstanding round barrow on Therfield Heath and run towards Bassingbourn's Wellhead Springs (Burleigh 1980), from which a brook runs northwards approximately 150m to the west of the subject site. The banks associated with the Mile Ditches were once visible, but were levelled during the Second World War. The earthworks were investigated during road widening in 1978 and were found to be a maximum of 3.50m wide and 1.20m deep (the narrowest being c. 2.00m wide and 0.75m deep), with distances of 5–8m between them (Burleigh 1980).

The precise date of their construction is not known although they evidently silted up during the Roman period; amongst the finds recovered in 1978, a horse mandible was radiocarbon dated to the 2nd century BC. The Mile Ditches are the westernmost in a sequence of five boundaries in the vicinity of the Icknield Way, which they either run up to or across at right angles (Malim et al 1997, figs 1 and 2). The dating of the other four boundaries remains a matter for debate – they were clearly significant in the Anglo-Saxon period but have possible origins in prehistory, forming dykes across the chalk uplands that may have served functions as defensive barriers, land boundaries and routes, associated with earlier sacred places (Malim et al 1997, 27). Notably, the Mile Ditches appear to be the only examples with a bank on the west as well as the east, the others only having banks to the east (Malim et al 1997, 106).

Between Ashwell Street and the Icknield Way, following the same alignment as the roads, are a set of 'camps' thought to be Iron Age (Crawford 1936). These include Arbory Banks, south of the village of Ashwell; Limlow Hill, west of the Mile Ditches; Hoy's Farm, south of Bassingbourn and Burlow Hill to the east of Royston. The evidence for these comes mainly from aerial photography and no excavation has yet taken place.
Iron Age

The newly discovered ditches at Bassingbourn Village College were recorded over a distance of 70m within the excavation, while their south-westerly course was traced for a further 160m through geophysical survey (Fig. 2). To the extreme south-west is a hint that the ditches narrow into a funnel, a feature which aids livestock management and is therefore common in droveways. An alternative interpretation is that the ditches defined some other form of repeated but shifting boundary, perhaps akin to the Mile Ditches themselves.

The excavated sequence of ten linear ditches, all orientated north-north-east to south-south-west, lay in two groups—three to the west and the remainder to the east (Fig. 2). While their size and form varied considerably, indicating occasional widening and narrowing of the space between them, their strict alignment remained the same. Some were wide and shallow, whilst others were narrow or wide and deep with sharp v-shaped profiles. Widths ranged from 0.39 to 2.00m and depths from 0.18 to 1.00m, the largest therefore being of similar scale to the smallest of the Mile Ditches. Distances between any two sets of flanking ditches varied from 13m to 26.5m, making the intervening space relatively wide compared to known contemporary droveways. The ditch fills were very similar throughout being a reddish brown or greyish brown sandy silt. Dating evidence was scarce, although Iron Age pottery was retrieved. A notable find from one of the southern ditches (ditch 3)
Figure 2. Site plan of Iron Age ditches and Anglo-Saxon features, with insert showing the results of geophysical survey.
was a complete red deer antler which had been deliberately placed within its fill. This had evidently been naturally shed and would have been highly valued in prehistoric times.

In the north-western corner of the site a short section of another ditch lay within the excavated area (311), aligned perpendicular to the other ditches. A cow skull had been deliberately placed upright near the base of and facing the ditch terminal. Cranial suture closure indicates an adult animal, around 7–9 years of age, while metrical analysis of the horn cores suggests a beast of similar morphology to those from contemporary sites.

Although only a small quantity of Iron Age pottery was recovered (11 sherds, 171g) it includes fragments of two vessels likely to be of Middle Iron Age date. The first, from ditch 5, consists of eight sherds, including a piece of the rim from an ovoid jar with fragments of vertical scratches on the body in a manner typical of the Scored Ware tradition (Elsdon 1992). Scored ware, which is commonly found on Middle to Late Iron Age sites in the south-east midlands, particularly Northamptonshire, is thought to be of Middle Iron Age date, ie. 5th/4th to 1st centuries BC (Knight 2002, 124–6). The second vessel is represented by a rimsherd from a large jar found in ditch 2. The top of the rim bead is decorated with fingertipping, with nail marks visible in the centre of each impression. Fingertip decoration occurs on both Early and Middle Iron Age pottery in Cambridgeshire. It would appear therefore that there was certainly human presence at the site during the Middle Iron Age, with a possible origin in the Early Iron Age.

Anglo-Saxon

A sunken-featured building lay in the north-western corner of the site, to the west of the earlier ditches. Aligned north to south it was 5.5m in length and 0.35m deep, with vertical sides, with a probable width of approximately 3m. Opposing post-holes were located in the middle of each short side; a common form of building in this period (Tipper 2004, 1). Its two fills contained no dateable finds, although the uppermost was cut by a pit containing Early to Middle Saxon pottery and animal bone, dominated by cattle with smaller proportions of sheep/goat. The assemblage contains a high proportion of fragments showing signs of butchery. The only other contemporary feature was a circular pit (170), which lay some distance to the east. This had vertical sides and was 1.3m deep, possibly serving as a well.

A small group of fourteen sherds of Early to Middle Saxon pottery came from these features (443g). The dating of Early Saxon hand-built pottery is entirely reliant on the presence of decorated sherds: it seems that the Anglo-Saxons generally stopped decorating hand-built pottery around the beginning of the 7th century (Myres 1977, 1), but it cannot be said that an assemblage which produced only plain sherds is of 7th-century date. Usually, decorated hand-built pottery only comprises around 3 to 4 per cent of domestic assemblages, as was the case at sites such as West Stow, Suffolk (West 1985) and Mucking, Essex (Hamerow 1993). All of the Bassingbourn pottery is undecorated apart from a single sherd from the rim and shoulders of a jar with corrugated and burnished shoulders. The vessel is difficult to date other than to within the broad Early Saxon period (AD 450 to 650), but it does have some similarities with a class of decoration (that of linear design on the neck and shoulders) which Myres (1977) saw as dating to the earlier part of the Early Saxon period.

Discussion

The Iron Age ditches evidently led towards the adjacent spring and this, combined with the fact that their course does not conform to other local alignments, may suggest that they represent a track linking fields or enclosures rather than a major routeway. The presence of the Mile Ditches to the south-west is, however, clearly significant. These formed an important multi-ditched territorial boundary and the presence of what may have been a substantial droveway or other boundary so close to them may suggest an association.

Deliberate deposition of animal remains is a common theme throughout prehistory and into the Roman and Anglo-Saxon periods, providing evidence of ritual or symbolic activity. Many authors have discussed the possible meaning of such deposition (e.g. Wait 1985; Hill 1995). Both examples of placed animal bone at Bassingbourn come from ditches; in such contexts the deposits may be signifying change or transition, and/or marking out settlement or other boundaries. During the Iron Age such rituals often appear to be linked to water and river cults, as well as ancestor worship associated with earlier prehistoric sites (Bryant 2000, 17).

Deer antlers are common at early prehistoric monumental sites such as Maumbury Rings, Dorset (Bradley 1975) but are also found on settlement sites dating as late as the Anglo-Saxon period. The vast majority of red deer remains in the Iron Age are recovered from such deposits, with relatively few deriving from domestic contexts (Hambelton 1999). Local examples, ranging in date from the Late Neolithic to the Early Saxon periods, include those found at Babraham Road, Cambridge (Hinman 2001) and Love's Farm, St Neots (Hinman in prep. a). Deliberate inhumations of cattle remains (particularly skulls) are relatively common on Iron Age sites, particularly in the Thames valley (Mulville et. al forthcoming). A spectacular example of numerous cattle and horses of Late Iron Age to Early/Middle Roman date buried nose to tail was recently found in a ditch at Haddenham (Phillips and Grassam 2006). There is a growing corpus of examples of cattle skulls placed in Iron Age ditch terminals or junctions, such as those found at Landbeach, Limes Farm (Sealey et al in prep).
The discovery of the Anglo-Saxon building is notable in the context of understanding the development of settlement in the parish. Although its north to south orientation is not exceptional, an east to west alignment is much more common. At Bloodmoor Hill in Suffolk, for example, only one out of 38 such buildings was definitely orientated north to south (Dickens, Mortimer and Tipper 2006). Similarly, at West Stow, of the 69 sunken-featured buildings, only one was orientated north to south (West 1985).

Conclusion

Despite their small scale, the excavations at Bassingbourn contribute new information to the study of this important landscape. An association between the ‘droveway’ and the Mile Ditches, a significant territorial boundary, remains a possibility. The evident ritual behaviour at the site is perhaps linked to its location, close to springs and earlier prehistoric monuments.

Acknowledgements

The excavation was carried out by CAM ARC, Cambridgeshire County Council (formerly the Archaeological Field Unit) and was managed by Pick Everard on behalf of Cambridgeshire County Council in advance of construction of a new sports hall. Geophysical survey was carried out by the Archaeological Research Group. The excavation was managed by James Drummond-Murray, while the site was excavated by Tom Phillips, Benjamin Brogan, Louise Bush, Chris Montague and Dan Wheeler. The pottery was examined by Paul Blinkhorn and the faunal remains by Chris Faine. Full discussion of the results can be found in the archive report (Phillips 2008). This paper was prepared for publication by Elizabeth Shepherd Popescu.

Cambridge Antiquarian Society is grateful to Cambridgeshire County Council for a grant towards the publication of this article.

Bibliography

Crawford, OGS 1936 Field Archaeology of the Royston District. PPS 2: 97–105
Hinman, M in prep. A Iron Age to Early Saxon Settlement at Love’s Farm, St Neots, Cambridgeshire (working title). EAA
Hinman, M in prep. b, Cambridge Park and Ridles: Sacred spaces or settlement sites? Three places in a prehistoric landscape (working title) EAA
York: Counc Brit Archaeol
Reaney P1 1943 The Place Names of Cambridgeshire and the Isle of Ely. English Place Name Society 19. Cambridge: CUP
Sealey, P, Connor, A and Kemp S in prep Prehistoric Ritual, Settlement and Ceramics: Excavations at Abington Park, Great Abington and Limes Farm, Landbeach, Cambridgeshire EAA
Wait, GA, 1985 Iron Age Ritual and Religion Brit Archaeol Rep British Ser 149
West SE 1985 West Stow. The Anglo-Saxon Village. EAA 24